OpenRoads Designer User Manual

2

U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration

Chapter 20

QUANTITIES





Chapter 20 Quantities

This chapter explains how to calculate quantities and generate reports from 3D Models.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

20A – Introduction to Quantities

| 20A.1 | Best Practices: Creating Corridors, Approaches, and Parking Lots | 20-3 |
|-------|--|-------|
| 20A.2 | Calculation Methods: Prismatic vs Average Area End Method | 20-5 |
| 20A.3 | Tools used in Quantity Calculations | 20-5 |
| 20A.4 | Example Usages for Quantity Workflows | 20-7 |
| 20A.5 | Quantity Workflow Overviews | 20-8 |
| 20A.5 | 5.a Component Quantities tool | 20-8 |
| 20A.5 | 5.b Quantities Report By Named Boundary tool | 20-9 |
| 20A.5 | 5.c Element Component Quantities tool | |
| 20A.5 | 5.d End Area Volumes Report tool | |
| 20A.6 | Deciphering and Understanding the Quantity Report | 20-12 |

20B – Create Cut Fill Volume tool and Earthwork Calculations

| 20B.1 | Cut and Fill Meshes | .20-21 |
|-------|--|--------|
| 20B.2 | Create Cut Fill Volumes tool - Workflow | .20-23 |
| 20B.3 | WARNING: Re-creating Cut and Fill Meshes | .20-25 |

20C – Quantity Report Workflow for Roadway with Approaches 20-26

| 20C.1 Co | mponent Quantities tool for Corridors | 20-27 |
|----------|--|-------|
| 20C.1.a | Setup the Corridor Quantity File and use the Component Quantities tool | |
| 20C.1.b | Decipher and Save the Component Quantities Report | 20-28 |
| 20C.2 Qu | antity Report By Named Boundary for Approaches | 20-30 |
| 20C.2.a | Setup the Approach Quantity File | 20-30 |
| 20C.2.b | Create Named Boundaries for each Approach | 20-31 |
| 20C.2.c | Create the Cut and Fill Meshes for the Approaches | 20-32 |
| 20C.2.d | Generate the Report with Quantities Report By Named Boundary tool | 20-33 |
| 20C.2.e | Decipher and Save the Approach Quantities Report | 20-34 |

20D – Earthwork By Cross Sections (Average Area End Method) 20-35

| 20D.1 | Create the Earthwork Quantity File | 20-35 |
|-------|--|-------|
| 20D.2 | Create the CROSS SECTION Named Boundaries | 20-36 |
| 20D.3 | Create Cut/Fill Meshes with the Create Cut Fill Volumes tool | 20-38 |
| 20D.4 | Generate the Report with the End Area Volumes Report tool | 20-39 |
| 20D.5 | Saving the Earthwork Report | 20-40 |

20E – Unsuitable Material Modeling and Calculations

20-41

20-3

20-21

| 20E.1 | Pro | ocess Overview for Modeling Unsuitable Materials | 20-42 |
|-------|-----|--|-------|
| 20E.2 | Мо | del the Unsuitable Material with Surface Templates - Workflow | 20-45 |
| 20E.2 | ?.a | Create a New ORD File for the Unsuitable Material Models | 20-45 |
| 20E.2 | 2.b | Create a Closed Element to represent the Unsuitable Materials Area | 20-46 |

20-58

20-70

| 20E.2.c | Create the Surface Template in the Template Editor | 20-51 |
|---------|---|-------|
| 20E.2.a | Apply the Surface Template with an External Clip Boundary | 20-52 |
| 20E.3 U | nsuitable Material Calculations | 20-54 |
| 20E.3.a | Unsuitable Material Calculation Workflow | 20-55 |
| 20E.3.b | Unsuitable Materials in the Quantity Report | 20-56 |

20F - Miscellaneous Quantity Workflows

20F.1Culvert Excavation – Workflow20-5820F.1.aCulvert Template Configuration20-5820F.1.bCreate the Culvert Linear Template20-6120F.1.cSet the Volume Options for Culvert Feature Definitions20-6220F.1.dCalculate Culvert Excavation Volume20-63

20G – Advanced Information: Component Feature Definition and Volume Options

| 20G.1 | Design Volume Option | 20-71 |
|-------|--------------------------|-------|
| 20G.2 | Unsuitable Volume Option | 20-72 |
| 20G.3 | Custom Volume Option | 20-73 |
| 20G.4 | Substrata Volume Option | 20-74 |
| 20G.5 | None Volume Option | 20-76 |

20A – INTRODUCTION TO QUANTITIES

This chapter covers the calculation of quantities from 3D Models created with Corridors, Linear Templates, Surface Templates, and Civil Cells.

20A.1 Best Practices: Creating Corridors, Approaches, and Parking Lots

Easy and straightforward quantity calculations begin with proper setup of the mainline Corridor, Approaches, and other modeling entities. It is highly recommended that these BEST PRACTICES are considered at the beginning of project and before Corridor modeling.

BEST PRACTICE – ORD DESIGN FILE SETUP: Do NOT create Approach or Parking Lot models in the same ORD File as the Corridor. Place Approach or Parking models in their own dedicated ORD File (i.e., "..._cor_appr.dgn" for approaches). When calculating quantities, it is very difficult or impossible to separate mainline Corridor and Approach quantities when they are placed in the same file.

WARNING: When calculating Approach model quantities, create a dedicated **Approach Quantities ORD File** and do NOT reference the Mainline Corridor into that File.

EXPLANATION: Typically, quantities for a Corridor are calculated with the *Component Quantities* tool – which isolates the Corridor Quantities. The combined Surface Templates and Linear Templates used to model an Approach are calculated in bulk with a *Named Boundary* element.

IMPORTANT: The Corridors, Surface Templates, and Linear Templates used to model Approach Roads can NOT be isolated if a portion of the Mainline Corridor is within the *Named Boundary*.

As shown below, the *Named Boundary* would include unwanted Corridor quantities, if the mainline Corridor and Approaches are referenced into the same Quantities ORD File.



BEST PRACTICE – CORRIDOR AND APPROACH MODELING TECHNIQUES: Whenever possible, AVOID using Corridor Clipping in the mainline Corridor – particularly in the vicinity of an Approach. Alternate strategies for addressing overlap between the mainline Corridor and Approach modeling entities is discussed in **11A.5 Overlap Between Mainline Corridor and Site Modeling Features**.

TIP: The preferred method for accommodating Approaches in the mainline Corridor is to use a Road Template that utilizes Display Rules to trigger OFF shoulder and end condition components in the vicinity of the Approach. See **11A.5.c Use a Template containing Display Rules to Address Overlap**.

BEST PRACTICE – FEATURE DEFINITIONS IN TEMPLATES: To decipher quantities reports, the User must know the Feature Definition that each Template Point and Component is assigned to. In the report, material quantities are listed by Feature Definitions. All Template Components assigned to a particular Corridor will be summed together in the report. To separate material types in the report, each unique material in the Template must be assigned to a unique Feature Definition.

Feature Definitions are assigned to Template Points and Components in the Template Editor. See 8C.2 Point Feature Definition and Name Properties and 8D.1 Component Symbology Properties.

EXAMPLE SCENARIO: In this scenario, a single Corridor utilizes two Templates. Both Templates use asphalt, but the required asphalt mix type differs between the two Templates. This can be problematic because it is FLH convention to place Components that represent asphalt on the "XS_TC_Pavement Layer 1" Feature Definition. If the different asphalt mix Components are assigned to the same Feature Definition (i.e., "XS_TC_Pavement_Layer 1"), then these two different materials will NOT be differentiated in the report – even though they belong to different Templates. To separate material types in the report, each unique material must be assigned to a unique Feature Definition.

Consistent and logical Feature Definition assignments (for both Template Points and Template Components) must be considered in Template creation to easily and appropriately separate materials and easily decipher the resulting quantities report.

WARNING: Quantity Calculations from the ORD Software should NEVER be completely trusted. When possible, use hand-calculations and engineering judgment to assure the validity of automatically calculated quantities.

For example, for a concrete sidewalk quantity in a parking lot design; manually draw an enclosed shape around the perimeter of the sidewalk. Compare the area of the enclosed shape with the automatically calculated values derived from the Sidewalk Template Model.

BEST PRACTICE: For asphalt, use hand-calculations to validify the automatically calculated quantities from the Road Template. To approximate the volume of asphalt: multiply the **width** and **length** of the road against the **depth** of the asphalt. Compare this hand-calculation with the report quantity. It is acceptable and advised to use the report quantity ONLY after its validity has been established.

WARNING: Confirm that Cut/Fill (earthwork) quantities are within the expected order of magnitude. A common mistake is forgetting to delete previously-created Cut/Fill mesh elements when re-calculating quantities. This results in Cut/Fill quantities that are approximately **doubled**. See <u>20B.3 WARNING: Re-</u> creating Cut and Fill Meshes.

20A.2 Calculation Methods: Prismatic vs Average Area End Method

There are two general methods for calculating quantities: **Prismatic** or **Average Area End Method**.

Prismatic Method: When using prismatic calculations, the entire length/area/volume of the 3D elements are analyzed. With this method, the resulting quantity calculations will exactly reflect the accuracy of the 3D Model.

Average Area End Method: The *Average Area End Method* is used to calculate earthwork quantities at specified cross-section locations. With this method, the accuracy of the results depend on how frequently cross-sections are analyzed. This method is most appropriate for linear projects that utilize Corridors. This method is NOT appropriate for irregular site designs – such as parking lot projects.

WARNING: With this method, the 3D Model is IGNORED in between the specified crosssection locations. If an important feature is located in between adjacent cross sections, then the corresponding quantities will not be reflected in **Average Area End Method** quantity calculations.

BEST PRACTICE: In general, Prismatic Quantity tools should be used because the results better reflect the 3D Model. Average Area End Method calculations should only be used if a Average Area End Method earthwork report is required for the specific project.

20A.3 Tools used in Quantity Calculations

Tools used for quantity calculations and reporting are found in the following location:

OpenRoads Modeling workflow \rightarrow **Home** tab \rightarrow **Model Analysis and Reporting** panel



NOTE: The *Component Quantities* tool 1 and *Element Component Quantities* tool 2 are very similar. They both operate by simply selecting a Corridor, Linear Template, or Surface Template. However, each tool has limitations. See the table on the next page for the advantages and disadvantages of each tool.

| | Prismatic Quantity tools | | | | |
|---|--------------------------|---|--|--|--|
| | Tool: | Description: | | | |
| | | Generates volume and surface area quantities for a single Corridor or Linear Template. This tool is generally used to quickly calculate the quantities for the mainline Corridor. | | | |
| 1 | Component Quantities | PRO: This tool generates Cut and Fill volume quantities without using the <i>Create Cut Fill Volumes</i> tool. | | | |
| | Quantities | CON: Only a single Corridor or Linear Template can be selected per report. Surface Templates are NOT compatible with this tool. Unsuitable Materials CANNOT be calculated with this tool | | | |
| | | Operation of this tool is shown in 20C.1 Component Quantities tool for Corridors. | | | |
| | | Generates surface area and volume quantities for one or more Corridors, Linear Templates, and Surface Template. | | | |
| 2 | Element Component | PRO: Multiple Corridors, Linear Templates, and Surface Templates can be selected and totaled in a single report. Surface Templates are compatible with this tool. | | | |
| | Quantities | CON: This tool does NOT generate Cut and Fill quantities. Cut and Fill Meshes for Surface Templates must be generated with the <i>Create Cut Fill Volumes</i> tool and calculated with the <i>Quantities Report By Named Boundary</i> . | | | |
| | | This tool generates Cut and Fill Meshes between sub-grade and the Existing Ground Terrain Model. This tool needs to be used prior to the <i>Quantities Report By Named Boundary</i> tool and <i>End Area Volume Report</i> tool. This tool is discussed in <u>20B</u> – | | | |
| 3 | Create Cut | Create Cut Fill Volume Tool and Earthwork Calculations. | | | |
| 3 | Fill Volumes | WARNING: Cut and Fill Meshes are STATIC – which means they will NOT adjust if the design changes. If the design changes, then previously-created Cut/Fill mesh elements must be deleted and re-created. See 20B.3 WARNING: Re-creating Cut and Fill Meshes. | | | |
| 4 | Quantities Report By | Creates a report that calculates the lengths, volumes, and surface areas of all 3D modeling elements located in the limits of a PLAN <i>Named Boundary</i> . However, this tool does NOT require a PLAN <i>Named Boundary</i> to be created. If the "None" option is selected, then the resulting report will reflect all quantities in the ORD File. | | | |
| | Named Boundary | IMPORTANT: This tool needs to be used for models that utilize Surface Templates - such as Parking Lots and Approaches. A detailed workflow for this tool is shown in 20C – Quantities Report Workflow for Roadway with Approaches. | | | |

| Average Area End Method tools | | | | |
|-------------------------------|---------------------------|---|--|--|
| | Tool: | Description: | | |
| 1 | End Area Volume Report | Creates a report that calculates Cut and Fill areas and volumes at specified cross section station locations. This tool requires the User to create CROSS SECTION <i>Named Boundaries</i> to specify the stationing interval for cross section calculations. A detailed workflow for this tool is shown in <u>20D - Earthwork By Cross Sections</u> . | | |

20A.4 Example Usages for Quantity Workflows

There are four workflows for quantities calculations. Each workflow has advantages, disadvantages, and limitations. The table below explains which workflows can be used for specific design situations and project types.

IMPORTANT: To generate quantities for **Surface Templates**, the *Quantities Report By Named Boundary* workflow MUST be used.

| Quantity Workflows | | | | | |
|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Workflow: | Recommended Use: | Compatibility: | Disadvantages: | | |
| Component Quantities 20C.1 Component Quantities tool for Corridors | <i>Corridors</i> Very quick workflow for calculating materials and earthwork for single Corridor or Linear Template. Typically, used to calculate quantities for the Mainline Corridor . | CorridorsLinear Templates | If the Corridor uses Clipping (not recommended), then the clipped portions are included in the output report – which produces quantities overlap with the clipping feature. Only a single Corridor OR Linear Template can be shown in the output report. Unsuitable Materials are NOT accounted for. | | |
| Quantities Report by Named Boundary 20C – Quantities Report Workflow for Roadway with Approaches All Corridor, Linear Template, and Surface Template quantities within a Named Boundary are calculated. | Non-Mainline Corridor quantity calculations: Approach Roads Driveways/Aprons Intersections Parking Lots 3D Linear Elements (i.e., guardrail) Site Design Unsuitable Material Calculations | All and any combination of 3D Modeling elements within the specified Named Boundary: • Corridors • Linear Templates • Surface Templates • 3D Linear Elements | Reports can be difficult to decipher; especially when inconsistent Feature Definitions are used amongst Corridors, Linear Templates, and Surface Templates. For guidance in deciphering the resulting report, see 20A.6 Deciphering and Understanding the Quantities Report. Cut/Fill Meshes must be created with the Create Cut Fill Volumes tool. Cut/Fill Meshes are STATIC – which means they do not adjust when the design changes. If previously-created Cut/Fill Meshes are NOT deleted, then quantity overlap occurs. | | |
| Element Component Quantities 20A.5.c. Element Component Quantities tool. | Material quantities ONLY. Will NOT generate earthwork quantities. | CorridorsLinear TemplatesSurface Templates | Does NOT include cut/fill (earthwork) quantities. | | |
| End Area Volume Report 20D – Earthwork by Cross Section | Not recommended unless required for specific project. Do NOT use for Parking Lots. | CorridorsLinear TemplatesSurface Templates | Due to the nature of By Section calculations, the resulting output is generally less accurate than Prismatic calculations. Specifically, this workflow should NOT be used for Site Designs and Parking Lots. | | |

20A.5 Quantity Workflow Overviews

The following flow charts briefly describe how to use each Quantity Calculation tool.

20A.5.a Component Quantities tool

The *Component Quantities* tool works by simply selecting a Corridor or Linear Template. A detailed workflow is shown in 20C.1 Setup the Corridor Quantity File and use the Component Quantities tool.



20A.5.b Quantities Report By Named Boundary tool

The *Quantities Report By Named Boundary* tool will sum ALL Corridors, Linear Templates, and Surface Templates quantities within the limits of PLAN *Named Boundary*. **ALTERNATIVELY,** if PLAN *Named Boundary* elements are NOT created, then all elements in the ORD File will be analyzed.

A detailed workflow is shown in 20C – Quantities Report Workflow for Roadway with Approaches. Also, tips and guidelines for deciphering the resulting quantity report is discussed in 20A.6 Deciphering and Understanding the Quantity Report.



20A.5.c Element Component Quantities tool

The *Element Component Quantities* tool is the EXACT same as the *Component Quantities* tool, with three exceptions:

- This tool CANNOT calculate Cut/Fill (Earthwork) quantities which can be done with the *Component Quantities* tool.
- Multiple Corridors, Linear Templates, and Surface Templates can be selected and totaled in a single report which could be useful for quickly calculating pavement section quantities. The *Component Quantities* tool can only select ONE Corridor or Linear Template at a time.
- This tool can calculate Component Quantities for **Surface Templates**. The *Component Quantities* tool is NOT compatible with **Surface Templates**.

The procedure for operating this tool is the exact same as the *Element Component Quantities* tool. See 20C.1 Component Quantities tool for Corridors.



20A.5.d End Area Volumes Report tool

The *End Area Volumes Report* will generate an Earthwork Report at each CROSS SECTION *Named Boundary* station. In the resulting report, only Cut/Fill areas and volumes are shown.

A detailed workflow is shown in 20D – Earthwork By Cross Section (Average Area End Method).



20A.6 Deciphering and Understanding the Quantity Report

When using the *Quantities Report By Named boundary* tool, the resulting quantity report analyzes and includes ALL 3D elements that are referenced into the *3D Design Model* • which can make the quantity report appear cluttered. The following concepts must be considered when deciphering quantity reports:

CONCEPT 1 – Verify Quantity Calculations with Hand Calculations:

WARNING: Quantity Calculations from the ORD Software should NEVER be completely trusted. When possible, use hand-calculations and engineering judgment to assure the validity of automatically calculate quantities.

For example, for a concrete sidewalk quantity in a parking lot design; manually draw an enclosed shape around the perimeter of the sidewalk. Compare the area of the enclosed shape with the automatically calculated values derived from the Sidewalk Template Model.

BEST PRACTICE: For asphalt, use hand-calculations to validify the automatically calculated quantities from the Road Template. To approximate the volume of asphalt: multiply the **width** and **length** of the road against the **depth** of the asphalt. Compare this hand-calculation with the report quantity. It is acceptable and advised to use the report quantity ONLY after its validity has been established.

WARNING: Confirm that Cut/Fill (earthwork) quantities are within the expected order of magnitude. A common mistake is forgetting to delete previously-created Cut/Fill Meshes when re-calculating quantities. This results in Cut/Fill quantities that are approximately **doubled**. See <u>20B.3 WARNING: Re-creating Cut</u> and Fill Meshes.

CONCEPT 2 – Feature Definition: The quantity report is listed by Feature Definition. All 3D elements assigned to a specific Feature Definition are summed together and placed on the same line in the report. **To separate material types in the report, each unique material must be assigned to a unique Feature Definition.**

TIP: Feature Definitions are assigned to Template Points and Components in the Template Editor. See <mark>8C – Template Points</mark> and 8D.1 Component Symbology Properties.

| Bentley Civil Report Browser - C:\Users\brendan\AppData\ | Local\Temp\RPTgunp5mvc.xml — 🗆 🗙 | X |
|--|--|---|
| File Tools | | |
| StationOffset Cant Civil Terrain CivilGeometry CivilGeometry CivilGeometry CorridorModeling | Quantities Report by Named Boundary Report Created: Monday, October 25, 2021 Time: 2:07:38 PM | Current Template Display Close Name: Typical Section w/ Display Rules Ocomponents Oconstraints Display Point Names Is Tunnel Template Display All Components Close Display Point Names Display All Components Display All Components Display All Components Display All Components Display All Components Display All Components Display All Components |
| Evaluation CrossSectionGradebookxsl CrossSectionGradebookKronCLxsl CrossSectionGradebookKrosl CrossSectionGradebookWide.xsl EarthworkQuantities.xsl ElementsComponentQuantitiesReport.xsl ElementsComponentQuantitiesReportSummary.xsl | Named Boundary None> Group: Station Named Boundary Name Note: All units in this report are in feet, square feet and cubic feet unless specified otherwise. Station Named Boundary Name NA. Totals | |
| EndAreaVolume.xsl MassHauToTIW.xsl <u>Cuantities by Named Boundary Report.xsl</u> SightVisibilityReport.xsl SightVisibilityReport.xsl TerrainCheck.xsl Volumes.xsl b LegalDescription b MapCheck Milling | XS_TL_Draft-DNC: 18382.578 XS_TL_Centerline Exist: 3676.516 Approach road match line: 3738.617 XS_TL_Centerline 1: 3676.516 XS_TL_Centerline 2: 3676.516 XS_TL_Centerline 3: 3676.516 XS_TL_Subgrade: 26074.940 XS_TL_Centerline: 3676.516 | Aggregate Base Component Properties Component Properties |
| Stakeout Superelevation Templatelibrary | XS_TL_Edge of Pavt 1: 14817.042 XS_TL_Edge of Pavt 2: 7353.031 XS_TL_Edge of Pavt 3: 14565.600 | Name: PavementLayer Use Name Override: PavementLayer 4 NOTE: The Name is inconsequential in the Report. |
| Feature Definition: for Template Components ar Template Points | S XS_TL_Edge of Paxt: 9.95 019 XS_TL_Lane Line A1: 7353.031 XS_TL_Lane Line A2: 7353.031 XS_TL_Lane Line A3: 7353.031 XS_TL_Lane Line A3: 7353.031 XS_TL_Lane Line A5: 7353.031 Ditn: 3634.552 | Description: Feature Definition: Display Rules: Edit Parent Component |
| | XS_LC_Rut. 1128.769 XS_TU_Fill: 5226.533 XS_TC_Fore lope: 27841.728 XS_TC_Pavement Layer 1: 125216.458 XS_TC_Pavement Layer 4: 147863.136 XS_TC_Cut: 21834.538 Volumes_Cut: 154220.505 Volumes_Fill: 66867.317 Baseline: 24516.917 XS_TC_Pavement Layer 2: 2873.775 XS_TC_Pavement Layer 3: 2873.775 | Exclude From Top/Bottom Mesh Closed Shape Vertex Fillet Tangent Lengths Select points to apply fillet tangent length to: Name Tangent Length Pavt_Lane_Layer4_L 0.0000 Pavt_EOP_Layer4_L 0.0000 Pavt_EOP_Layer3_L 0.0000 |

CONCEPT 3 – Template Points in the Report: All 3D elements in the current ORD File will be analyzed and included in the quantity report – which means there will be extraneous and unimportant information to sift through. Specifically, Feature Definitions that correspond with Template Points (*3D Linear Elements*) are often ignored because they are not relevant to bid items in the project.

Background Information: In the creation of Corridors, Template Points are extruded as *3D Linear Elements* (which is graphically depicted on the next page). As stated, all 3D elements found in the ORD File are be included in the report when the *Quantities Report By Named Boundary* tool is used. See **CONCEPT 4** for additional guidance in identifying 3D element types within the report.

| 🛃 Bentley Civil Report Browser - C:\Users\brendan\AppDa | ta\Local\Temp\RPTgunp5mvc.xml — | | | | - 🗆 🗙 |
|---|--|------------------|--|--|-------------|
| File Tools | | | | | |
| StationOffset Cant Civil Terrain CivilGeometry CivilGurvey CorridorModeling Evolution | Quantities Report by Named Boundary Report Created: Monday, October 25, 2021 Time: 2:07:38 PM | | Current Template Name: Typical Section w/ Display Rul Description: Ils Tunnel Template | es Display © Components O Constrain Display Point Names Display All Components | Close |
| CrossSectionGradebookxsl CrossSectionGradebook/romCLxsl CrossSectionGradebookNExsl CrossSectionGradebookWidexsl EarthworkQuantitiesxsl LimentCommentComment | Alignment Name: Input Grid Factor: Note: All units in this report are in feet, square feet and cubic feet specified othe | inless rwise. | ° | | |
| ElementsComponentQuantitiesReportSst ElementsComponentQuantitiesReportSummary.xsl EndAreaVolume.xsl MassHaulToTIW.xsl Quantities by Named Boundary Report.xsl SightVisibilityAlternateReport.xsl SightVisibilityAlternateReport.xsl TerrainCheck.xsl | Station Named Boundary Name Material Count Length Top Sloped Area Vo N.A. Totals XS_TL_Draft-DNC: 18382.578 XS_TL_Centerline Exist: 3676.516 Approach road match line: 3738.617 XS_TL_Centerline 1: 3676.516 XS_TL_Centerline 1: 3676.516 XS_TL_Centerline 2: 3676.516 | | -2 -2 + - ∴ ∓ +: -: □ ■ = = + < | Edge of Travel Way Point Template Point Properties Feature Definition: | <u>5</u> 30 |
| Volumes.xsl LegalDescription MapCheck | XS_TL_Centerline 3: 3676.516 XS_TL_Subgrade: 26074.940 XS_TL_Centerline: 2676.416 | Pc | oint Properties | "XS_TL_Lane Line A" | × |
| Milling Stakeout Superelevation | XS_TL_Edge of Pavt 2: 1/353.031 | N | lame: | Pavt_Lane_LayerTop_R v 🔸 | Apply |
| ▷ TemplateLibrary ▷ Turnouts ▷ Tools | XS_TL_Edge of Pavt 3: 14565.965 XS_TL_Edge of Pavt: 8395.019 XS_TL_Lane Line A1: 7353.031 | F | Use Feature Name Override: | Pavt_Lane_LayerTop_R v slate Points Lane Lane | Close |
| | XS_TL_Lane Line A2: 7353.031 XS_TL_Lane Line A3: 7353.031 | T | Superelevation Flag | | < Previous |
| | XS_TL_Lane Line A: 7353.031 Ditch: 3674.552 | AJ | lternate Surface: | | Next> |
| | XS_TL_GUL 1170.789 XS_TL_Fill: 522.5.533 27841.728 | | | Member of. | |
| NOTE: Template Points are reported in Lir | s (<i>3D Linear Elements</i>) 125216.458 40201 147863.136 69717 44466.056 21834.538 | .142 .547 | | PavementLayer 1 | |
| Template Point length are typically u | s shown in the report unimportant. 24516.917 2873.775 | .816 388 | | | |
| | XS_TC_Pavement Layer 3: 2873.775 | \sim | | | |

See the next page for a graphical depiction of the Edge of Travel Way Point in the 3D Design Model 🔽.



CONCEPT 4 – Identify Template Points and Components by Reported Units of Measurements: To identify and distinguish between *Template Points* and *Template Components* in the report, examine the Units of Measurement.

Template Points (*3D Linear Elements***)** are measured in Length units. By default, Template Points (*3D Linear Elements*) are reported **Feet**.

Template Components are reported by Surface Area (square feet) and/or Volume (cubic feet). Template Components can be *Planar* or *Volumetric* – which is discussed on the next page.

IMPORTANT: Typically, volumetric plan set bid items are specified in **CUBIC YARDS**. Volume Components in the report are in **CUBIC FEET**. Convert reported quantities to **CUBIC YARDS** for bid item purposes.



CONCEPT 5 – Planar Components versus Volumetric Components: As discussed in **8A.2** Basic Parts of a Template, Template Components can be Volumetric (enclosed shape) or Planar (open shape or line vector).

Planar Components: Planar components are reported in Surface Area units (square feet) – which is denotated as "Top Sloped Area" in the report.

In a typical Road Template, common Planar components include:

• Cut/Fill End Condition Components (found on the "XS_TC_Cut" or "XS_TC_Fill" Feature Definitions)

Real-World Application: The surface area of the Cut/Fill End Condition Components typically corresponds with Turf Establishment quantities. For example, the Cut/Fill End Condition reported surface area value may represent the embankment slope area which requires Turf Establishment.

• Pavement Section Foreslope Components (found on the "XS_TC_Foreslope" Feature Definition)

Real-World Application: The Pavement Section Foreslope surface area value may NOT be relevant for all FLH Projects. However, if the project requires the Pavement Section Foreslope to undergo Turf Establishment, then this surface area value could be utilized.

IMPORTANT: Planar components report the true, 3D sloped area value of the component. For example, if Turf Establishment area was manually measured in the 2D Design Model \mathcal{Q}_1 , then the resulting value would be underestimated, because the embankment slope is NOT accounted from a top-down measurement.



Volumetric Components: Volumetric Components are reported in both Volume (cubic feet) and Top Sloped Area units (square feet). Commonly, Volumetric Components represent materials that form the pavement section, such as Asphalt ("Pavement Layer 1") and Aggregate Base ("Pavement Layer 4").

Top Sloped Area: For Volumetric Components, only the TOP surface area of the Component is measured and reported.

WARNING: The "Top Sloped Area" measurement is occasionally unreliable for Volumetric Components. When possible, use hand-calculations to quantify surface areas – instead of relying on this reported value.

BEST PRACTICE: For example, when a sidewalk is modeled with Templates, it is advised that the sidewalk area is manually measured for plan set quantities. See **CONCEPT 1 – Verify Quantity Calculations with Hand Calculations**.



CONCEPT 6 – Non-Corridor Elements in the Report: As stated in CONCEPT 3, all 3D elements found (or referenced) into the ORD File are included in the report. This means 3D Elements that were not generated by a Corridor, Linear Template, or Surface Template are included in the report.

Two common examples are the Corridor Alignment (typically assigned to the "Baseline" Feature Definition) and Culverts (assigned to the "Pipe culvert" Feature Definition).

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: In both cases, Horizontal ORD elements are drawn in the 2D Design Model \mathfrak{Q} . Next, Vertical ORD Elements are drawn in the Profile Model \boxplus . When the Vertical Profile is activated in the Profile Model \blacksquare , a 3D Linear Element is created in the 3D Design *Model* **5**. The resulting *3D Linear Element* is analyzed and included in the quantity report.



Þ Þ

Þ

Þ

4

CONCEPT 7 – Earthwork Components: To display Cut/Fill Earthwork volumes in the quantities report, the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool must be used to generate Cut and Fill Meshes. Cut and Fill Meshes are discussed in <u>20B - Create Cut Fill Volume tool and Earthwork Calculations</u>.

Cut and Fill Volumes are assigned to the "Volumes_Cut" and "Volumes_Fill" Feature Definitions.

WARNING: Confirm that Cut/Fill (earthwork) quantities are within the expected order of magnitude. A common mistake is forgetting to delete previously-created Cut/Fill Mesh elements when re-calculating quantities. This results in Cut/Fill quantities that are approximately doubled. See <u>20B.3 WARNING: Re-</u> creating Cut and Fill Components.



| 🛃 Bentley Civil Report Browser - C:\Users\brendan\AppData\Lo | ocal\Temp\l | RPTjhzbu4ey.xml | | | - 🗆 | × |
|---|-----------------|--|--|---|----------------------------------|----|
| File Tools | | | | | | |
| StationOffset Cant Civil Terrain CivilGeometry CivilGeometry CivilSurvey CorridorModeling Evaluation CrossSectionGradebook.xsl CrossSectionGradebookKrsl CrossSectionGradebookNE.xsl CrossSectionGradebookWide.xsl EarthworkQuantities.xsl ElementsComponentQuantitiesReport.xsl ElementsComponentQuantitiesReportSummary.xs EndAreaVolume.xsl MassHaulToTIW.xsl Quantities by Named Boundary Report.xsl | Station N.A. | Named Boundary Name Material Count Totals XS_TL_Edge of Pavt: XS_TL_Lane Line A1: XS_TL_Lane Line A2: XS_TL_Lane Line A3: XS_TL_Lane Line A: Ditch: XS_TL_Cut: XS_TL_Fill: Pipe culvert: XS_TC_Foreslope: XS_TC_Pavement Layer 1: XS_TC_Pavement Layer 4: | Length To 8395.019 7353.031 7353.031 7353.031 7353.031 3634.552 1128.789 5226.533 104.407 | p Sloped Area 27841.728 125216.458 147863.136 | Volume 40201.142 69717.547 | |
| Earthwork Quantitie | es_ ies_Fil | XS_TC_Fill: Volumes_Cut: Volumes_Fill: Daseme: | 24J10.917 | 44466.056 21924.528 154220.501 66867.311 2871.775 | 506990.816 120612.388 | |
| | \times | Top Sloped | Area. | 2873.775 | | ~~ |

20B – CREATE CUT FILL VOLUME TOOL AND EARTHWORK CALCULATIONS

The primary purpose of the *Create Cut Fill Volume* tool is to generate Cut and Fill Meshes. Cut and Fill Meshes are necessary to calculate earthwork volumes for the following reporting tools:

- Quantities Report By Named Boundary
- End Area Volume Report

TIP: The *Component Quantities* tool is the ONLY earthwork calculation tool that does NOT require Cut and Fill Meshes to be created. The limitation of *Component Quantities* tool is that only a single Corridor or Linear Template can be selected and analyzed at a time. Models that utilize Surface Templates and Terrain Models require Cut and Fill Volumes to be created and the *Quantities By Named Boundary* tool to be used.

WARNING: The Create Cut Fill Volume tool does NOT allow the User to specifically select which Corridor, Linear Template, or Surface Templates to create Cut and Fill Meshes for. This tool creates Cut and Fill Meshes for **ALL** Corridors, Linear Templates, and Surface Templates created or **referenced** into the current ORD File. In the Quantities ORD File, reference only ORD Files that contain the desired modeling features.

20B.1 Cut and Fill Meshes

As discussed in 20A.6 Deciphering and Understanding the Quantities Report, the Quantities Report By Named Boundary tool functions by calculating the volume of all Template Components and Meshes found in the 3D Design Model . Cut and Fill Meshes correspond with earthwork volumes. However, Cut and Fill Meshes are NOT automatically created in the modeling of Corridors, Linear Templates, and Surface Templates. Instead, the Cut and Fill Meshes must be manually created with the Create Cut Fill Volume tool.

After Cut and Fill Meshes have been created, earthwork can be calculated and reported with the *Quantities Report By Named Boundary* tool (20C - *Quantity Report Workflow for Roadway with Approaches*) or *End Area Volume Report* tool (20D – Earthwork By Cross Sections (Average Area End Method)).

TIP: Advanced information relating to how the software creates Cut/Fill Mesh is discussed in 20G – Advanced Information: Component Feature Definition and Volume Options.

| View 2, 2D Design SurvFt-3D | | |
|-----------------------------|--|----------|
| | Fill Mesh (BLUE) | Cut Mesh |
| | (DEOL) | |
| | | 1 12 |
| | | |
| A 1938 | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | All second and a second | |

As shown below, Road Components directly correlate with the Template used to create the Corridor, Linear Template, or Surface Templates. Due to their irregular shape Cut and Fill Meshes are NOT built directly into Templates – which is why they have to be manually created.



20B.2 Create Cut Fill Volumes tool - Workflow

This workflow demonstrates how to create Cut and Fill Meshes using the *Create Cut Fill Volume* tool. This tool can also be used to calculate earthwork with respect to the removal of Unsuitable Materials – which is shown in <u>20E – Unsuitable Material Modeling and Calculations</u>.

BEST PRACTICE: Never use this tool in the Corridor Modeling File (_cor.dgn) or other Design Files. Cut and Fill Meshes should ONLY be created in dedicated Quantity Files.

WARNING: Cut and Fill Meshes are STATIC – which means they will NOT adjust if the design changes. If the design changes, then previously-created Cut/Fill mesh elements must be deleted and re-created. See 20B.3 WARNING: Re-creating Cut and Fill Meshes.

WARNING: This tool does NOT allow the User to specifically select which Corridor, Linear Template, or Surface Templates to create Cut and Fill Meshes for. All Corridors, Linear Templates, and Surface Templates created or referenced into the current ORD File will be sought out for Cut and Fill meshes creation. In the Quantities ORD File, reference in ONLY the desired modeling entities.



Cut and Fill Feature Definition: In steps ² and ³, the User is prompted to specify the Cut Feature Definition and Fill Feature Definition. Do NOT change these Feature Definitions. Accept and use the default Cut and Fill Feature Definitions.

The resulting Cut and Fill mesh elements (found in the *3D Design Model* **()** will be assigned to these Feature Definitions. Later, when quantity reports are generated, Cut and Fill volumes will be shown next to these assigned Feature Definitions.

| 1 | From the Ribbon, select the <i>Create Cut Fill Volumes</i> tool: [<i>OpenRoads Modeling</i> \rightarrow <i>Home</i> \rightarrow <i>Model Analysis and Reporting</i>]. |
|---|---|
| 2 | <i>Prompt: Cut Feature Definition</i> – Accept and use the default Cut Feature Definition – which should be "Volumes_Cut". Left-Click in the <i>View</i> to accept and proceed to the next prompt. |
| 3 | <i>Prompt: Fill Feature Definition</i> – Accept and use the default Fill Feature Definition – which should be "Volumes_Fill". Left-Click in the <i>View</i> to accept and proceed to the next prompt. |
| | Prompt: Compute Unsuitable – Typically, "NO" is selected. |
| 4 | If "YES" is selected, then Components and Meshes that utilize the "Unsuitable" Volume Option* will be considered in the creation of Cut/Fill Meshes. See 20G.2 Unsuitable Volume Option. |
| | A detailed workflow for modeling and calculating Unsuitable materials is shown in 20E - Unsuitable Material Modeling and Calculations. |
| | Prompt: Compute Custom – Typically, "NO" is selected. |
| 5 | If "YES" is selected, then Components that utilize the "Custom" Volume Option* will be considered in the creation of Cut/Fill Meshes. See 20G.3 Custom Volume Option. |
| | Prompt: Compute Substrata – Typically, "NO" is selected. |
| 6 | If "YES" is selected, then Meshes that utilize the "Substrata" Volume Option* will be considered in the creation of Cut/Fill Meshes. See 20G.4 Substrata Volume Option. |
| 7 | <i>Prompt: Data Point to accept selection</i> – Left-Click anywhere in the <i>View</i> to create the Cut and Fill Meshes in the <i>3D Design Model</i> . |

NOTE*: The Volume Option is found in the Feature Definition Properties – which is accessed in the Project Explorer. Volume Options are discussed in 20G – Advanced Information: Component Feature Definition and Volume Options.

20B.3 WARNING: Re-creating Cut and Fill Meshes

Cut and Fill Mesh elements are static – meaning they will NOT automatically adjust if the design is changed.

If the design changes and Cut/Fill quantities need to be re-calculated, then the Cut and Fill Meshes should be deleted before the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool is used again.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: If this tool is used for second time – without deleting the initially-created Cut and Fill Meshes, then there will be two sets of Cut/Fill Meshes in the ORD File.

WARNING: In the resulting report, the earthwork quantities will be **greatly overestimated** because the two sets of earthwork Meshes are both included and totaled together.

Cut and Fill Meshes can ONLY be selected and deleted from within the 3D Design Model 🐬.



20C – QUANTITY REPORT WORKFLOW FOR ROADWAY WITH APPROACHES

In this workflow, a quantity report is created for the mainline Corridor using the *Component Quantities* tool. Next, a second quantity report is created for the Approaches using the *Quantities By Named Boundary* tool.

TIP: The procedure shown here could also be used to calculate Parking Lot or Approach Road quantities.

PREREQUISITE WARNING: This workflow requires that the mainline Corridor and Approaches were created in separate ORD Design Files. If the Corridor and Approaches were created in the same ORD File, then it is very difficult to produce reports that separate mainline Road and Approaches quantities.

PREREQUISITE WARNING: In this workflow, the mainline Corridor quantities are calculated with the *Component Quantities* tool – which produces inaccurate results when the Corridor is clipped. For Corridors that were clipped, the *Quantities By Named Boundary* tool must be used. In lieu of Corridor Clipping in approach/intersection modeling, use an alternative method discussed in **11A.5 Overlap Between Mainline Corridor and Site Modeling Features**.

Two ORD Quantity Files need to be created: a Corridor Quantity File and an Approach Quantity File.

Corridor Quantity File*: This file is exclusively used to calculate quantities for the Corridor.

Name: Project specific prefix_qty_cor.dgn (WFL File Naming Convention)

ORD Files to Reference***:

- Corridor Modeling File (_cor.dgn)
- Survey File (_sur.dgn) or Existing Terrain Model File (_ter.dgn) which ever File contains the Existing Ground Terrain Model.

Workflow to Calculate Corridor Quantities: Component Quantities tool.

Approach Quantity File: This file is exclusively used to calculate quantities for Approaches.

Name: Project specific prefix_qty_appr.dgn (WFL File Naming Convention)

ORD Files to Reference***:

- Approach, Driveway, and Intersection Modeling File (_cor_appr.dgn)***
- Survey File (_sur.dgn) or Existing Terrain Model File (_ter.dgn) which ever File contains the Existing Ground Terrain Model.

Workflow to Calculate Approach Quantities: Quantities By Named Boundary tool.

NOTE*: It is NOT necessary to create a Corridor Quantity File to isolate Corridor quantities with the *Component Quantities* tool. This tool could be used directly in the Corridor Modeling File (_cor.dgn). However, the Corridor Quantity File allows isolation of the Corridor if Corridor quantities need to be separated by particular stationing limits – which is attained with the *Quantities By Named Boundary* tool.

WARNING***: A common mistake is referencing unnecessary Design Files into a Quantity File. For example, it is unnecessary to reference the Alignment File (_ali.dgn) or Superelevation File (_sup.dgn) for accurate quantity calculations. Besides the Existing Ground Terrain Model File, reference ONLY Design Files that contain Corridors, Linear Templates, and/or Surface Templates.

WARNING***: Do NOT use Nested Reference in Quantity ORD Files.

20C.1 Component Quantities tool for Corridors

20C.1.a Setup the Corridor Quantity File and use the Component Quantities tool

| | Create the Corridor Quantity File. See 3B - Create a New ORD File. |
|---|---|
| • | The new Corridor Quantity File should be named in accordance with ORD File Naming Conventions listed in Chapter 3. See <u>3C – ORD File Naming Conventions</u> . |
| | Naming Convention for Corridor Quantity File by FLH Office: |
| | WFLHD: project specific prefix_qty_cor.dgn |
| | CFLHD: XXX(alignment descriptor)project descriptor.dgn |
| | In the 2D Design Model \mathfrak{P} of the new Approach Quantity File , Reference in the following files: |
| 2 | • Survey File (_sur.dgn) or Existing Terrain Model File (_ter.dgn) – which ever File contains |
| | the Existing Ground Terrain Model. Corridor Modeling File (cor.dan) |
| | |
| 3 | Set the Existing Ground Surface as Active. See <u>3D.3 Activate the Existing Ground Terrain Model</u> . |
| 4 | From the Ribbon, select the <i>Component Quantities</i> tool: [<i>OpenRoads Modeling</i> \rightarrow <i>Home</i> \rightarrow <i>Model Reporting and Analysis</i>]. |
| 5 | Prompt: Locate Corridor – Left-Click on the Corridor Handle. |
| | 🜍 OpenRoads Modeling 🔹 💌 📧 🖶 👪 🧏 🐟 🛪 🖈 📌 🚔 💺 🗅 🎾 🗔 👰 🥖 📧 🤀 🗧 |
| | File Home Terrain Geometry Site Corridors Model Detailing Drawing Production Drawing Annotate Utilities |
| | None |
| | Li 0 * i 0 * i 0 * Analysis * Model i reports Plan View Minport * |
| | View 1 2D Design Function |
| | $ = \forall \text{ lew if } \text{ ab besign survey} $ $ = \forall \text{ lew if } \text{ ab besign survey} $ $ \text{Results Report} $ $ \qquad \qquad$ |
| | Milling Report Image: Superelevation Report |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | Corridor Handle |
| | 5 R Locate Corridor |

20C.1.b Decipher and Save the Component Quantities Report

An example **Component Quantities Report** is shown below. There are two types of quantities that are calculated:

- 1. **Earthwork Quantities** include *Cut* and *Fill Volumes*. Earthwork Quantities are calculated as the volumetric difference between the Corridor Bottom Mesh and Existing Ground Terrain Model. See <u>91.1 Top and Bottom Meshes</u>.
- 2. **Component Quantities –** are calculated from Template Components found in the Templates. Component Quantities can be planar (Surface Area) or Volumetric.

NOTE: Cut Volume and Fill Volume (Earthwork Quantities) are NOT interchangeable with Cut and Fill (Component Quantities). The Cut/Fill quantities correspond with the End Condition Components – which are Planar Components (See <u>8A.2.a Template Points and Components</u>). The Cut/Fill quantity values shown below represents the End Condition Component Surface Area.





20C.2 Quantity Report By Named Boundary for Approaches

20C.2.a Setup the Approach Quantity File

| | Create the Approach Quantity File. See 3B - Create a New ORD File. | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| 1 | The new Approach Quantity File should be named in accordance with ORD File Naming Conventions listed in Chapter 3. See <u>3C – ORD File Naming Conventions</u> . | | | |
| | Naming Convention for Corridor Quantity File by FLH Office: | | | |
| | <pre>WFLHD: project specific prefix_qty_appr.dgn EFLHD: 0X_project number_XXX.dgn</pre> | | | |
| | CFLHD: XXX(alignment descriptor)project descriptor.dgn | | | |
| 2 | *** In the 2D Design Model \mathfrak{P} of the new Approach Quantity File, Reference in the following files: | | | |
| | Survey File (_sur.dgn) or Existing Terrain Model File (_ter.dgn) – which ever File contains the Existing Ground Terrain Model. | | | |
| | Approach Modeling File (_cor_appr.dgn) | | | |
| 3 | Set the Existing Ground Surface as Active. See 3D.3 Activate the Existing Ground Terrain Model. | | | |

WARNING***: To separate Corridor and Approach quantities, do NOT reference the Corridor Modeling File (_cor.dgn) into the Approach Quantity File. If the Corridor Modeling File is referenced in, then the *Quantities By Named Boundary* report would include Corridor quantities.

As shown in the graphic below, the Approach Quantity File should ONLY contain approach modeling entities and the Existing Ground Terrain Model.



20C.2.b Create Named Boundaries for each Approach

To isolate the quantities for each approach, a PLAN *Named Boundary* is created around each approach. In this configuration, a quantities report can be generated for each approach. *Named Boundary* creation is discussed in **14A.3.a** *Place Named Boundary tool – Overview*.

IMPORTANT: If the intent is to create a single quantities report that sums up quantities for ALL approaches, then it is NOT necessary to create *Named Boundaries*. If this is the intent, skip to 20C.2.c Create the Cut and Fill Meshes for the Approaches.

NOTE: In this workflow, the **By 2 Points** mode is used to create the *Named Boundaries*. However, for irregular shaped *Named Boundaries* the **By Polygon** mode could be used. Similarly, using the **Civil Plan By Element** mode, an enclosed SmartLine can be converted into a *Named Boundary* for custom shapes.



Repeat this process and create a Named Boundary for each Approach.

20C.2.c Create the Cut and Fill Meshes for the Approaches

To display cut and fill (earthwork) volumes in the Approach quantity report, then the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool must be used. This tool creates Cut and Fill Meshes in the *3D Design Model* **•**. For more information on Cut and Fill Meshes, see <u>20B - Create Cut Fill Volume tool and Earthwork Calculations</u>.

WARNING: Cut and Fill Meshes are static – meaning they will NOT automatically adjust if the design is changed. If the design changes, Cut and Fill Meshes should be deleted and re-created.

WARNING: If this tool is used for second time – without deleting the initially-created Cut and Fill Meshes, then there will be two sets of Cut/Fill Meshes in the ORD File. In the resulting report, the earthwork quantities will be **greatly overestimated** because the two sets of earthwork Meshes are both included and totaled together. See <u>20B.3 WARNING: Re-creating Cut and Fill Meshes</u>.

| 11 | From the Ribbon, select the <i>Create Cut Fill Volumes</i> tool: [<i>OpenRoads Modeling</i> \rightarrow <i>Home</i> \rightarrow <i>Model Analysis and Reporting</i>]. |
|----|---|
| 12 | <i>Prompt: Cut Feature Definition</i> – Accept and use the default Cut Feature Definition – which should be "Volumes_Cut". Left-Click in the <i>View</i> to accept and proceed to the next prompt. |
| 13 | <i>Prompt: Fill Feature Definition</i> – Accept and use the default Fill Feature Definition – which should be "Volumes_Fill". Left-Click in the <i>View</i> to accept and proceed to the next prompt. |
| 14 | Prompt Compute Unsuitable – In this case, "NO" is selected. |
| 15 | Prompt Compute Custom – In this case, "NO" is selected. |
| 16 | Prompt Compute Substrata – In this case, "NO" is selected. |
| 17 | <i>Prompt: Data Point to accept selection</i> – Left-Click anywhere in the <i>View</i> to create the Cut and Fill Meshes in the <i>3D Design Model</i> . |

| File Home Terrain Geometry Site Corrid | ors Model Detailing Dra | wing Production | Drawing Annotate Utilit |
|--|----------------------------|------------------------|--|
| None ▼ Default ▼ 0 ▼ 50 ▼ 0 ▼ 0 ▼ 40 ▼ | Explorer Attach Tools * | Reports Ci Analy | vil visi visi visi visi visi visi visi visi |
| Attributes | Primary | Mc 🔶 | Analyze Point |
| View 2 3D Design Sureft 3D | | | Analyze Between Points |
| T view 2, 20 Design Survet-su | | | Calculate Area |
| | | 1 | Analyze Volume |
| Cut Feature Definition | | \$\$ | Inverse Points |
| Parameters:Cut Feature Definition Volumes_Cut | | | Analyze Trace Slope |
| | Data Point to accept | t selection | Analyze Pond |
| Fill Feature Definition | | , | Element Component Quantities |
| Parameters:Fill Feature Definition Volumes_Fill | | 11 💌 | Create Cut Fill Volumes |
| | | A | Quantities Report By Named Bounda |
| | | . | Mass Haul Diagram |
| | | Crea — | Report |
| | | Parameters | ∧ ort |
| Parameters:Compute Unsuitable No | C C C C | ut Feature Definition | Volumes Cut V |
| | FILL F | ill Feature Definition | Volumes_Fill |
| Parameters:Compute Custom No | | Compute Unsuitable | |
| | 15 0 | Compute Custom | |
| | 10 0 | Simplific Gubtom | |

20C.2.d Generate the Report with Quantities Report By Named Boundary tool

In this step, the *Quantities Report By Named Boundary* tool is used to generate the quantities report.



20C.2.e Decipher and Save the Approach Quantities Report

For guidance in deciphering the contents of quantities report produced by the *Quantity Report By Named Boundary* tool, see 20.A.6 Deciphering and Understanding the Quantities Report.

To save the Earthwork Report, right-click in the report window and select "Export to Microsoft Excel".



20D – EARTHWORK BY CROSS SECTIONS (AVERAGE AREA END METHOD)

In this workflow, the End Areas Volume Report tool is used to generate an Earthwork report.

As a precursor procedure, CROSS SECTION *Named Boundaries* have to be created. Average Area End Method calculations are performed at each CROSS SECTION *Named Boundary* station location. CROSS SECTION *Named Boundaries* are discussed in *Chapter 16 – Cross Section*.

DESIGN ITERATIONS WARNING: CROSS SECTION Named Boundaries are static and will NOT automatically adjust if the Alignment is edited. If the Alignment is edited, then CROSS SECTION Named Boundary elements will have to be re-created for earthwork calculation purposes.

20D.1 Create the Earthwork Quantity File

TIP: Typically, Average Area End Method earthwork reports are coordinated with the Cross Section plans deliverable. It is conventional to perform Average Area End Method calculations at each station location shown in the Cross Section plans. As an alternative to creating a new ORD Quantity File, perform a Copy or Save As of the ORD Cross Section File (_xs.dgn) and rename it to *prefix_qty_ew.dgn* (WFL Naming Convention). If this alternate procedure is used, then proceed to 20D.3 Create Cut/Fill Meshes with the Create Cut Fill Volumes tool.

| | Create the Earthwork Quantity File. See 3B - Create a New ORD File. |
|---|---|
| 1 | The new Earthwork Quantity File should be named in accordance with ORD File Naming Conventions listed in Chapter 3. See <u>3C – ORD File Naming Conventions</u> . |
| | Naming Convention for Corridor Quantity File by FLH Office: |
| | <pre>WFLHD: project specific prefix_qty_ew.dgn EFLHD: 0X_project number_XXX.dgn</pre> |
| | CFLHD: XXX(alignment descriptor)project descriptor.dgn |
| | In the 2D Design Model 💁, Reference in the following files: |
| 2 | Survey File (_sur.dgn) or Existing Terrain Model File (_ter.dgn) - which ever File contains the Existing Ground Terrain Model. Alignment File (_ali.dgn) |
| | Corridor Modeling File (_cor.dgn) |
| | OPTIONAL: Reference in all ORD Design Files that need be included in earthwork calculations. It may be necessary to reference in the Approach Modeling File (_cor_appr.dgn) or a Parking Lot Design File (_cor_park.dgn). |
| 3 | Set the Existing Ground Surface as Active. See 3D.3 Activate the Existing Ground Terrain Model. |
20D.2 Create the CROSS SECTION Named Boundaries

For explanations of all settings found in the *Place Named Boundary* dialogue box, see **16B.2.a Initial Setup** of the Named Boundary Dialogue Box. In the steps below, only the parameters important to earthwork calculations are discussed.

IMPORTANT: To create CROSS SECTION *Named Boundaries*, a *View* displaying the *3D Design Model* , must be opened. The *3D Design Model* is automatically created after the Existing Ground Surface is set as *Active*.

| 🦪 c | penRoads N | /lodeling | ▼ ∨ 8 | / 😑 🔒 | | 1 🛧 🕆 🥕 | 1 | ▶ ⊃, 🗆 | े 🥯 🐔 🚺 | 0 | 🔁 = | | | | | |
|---------|----------------------|-----------|---|---|--------------|---------------------------|----------|--|------------------------|---------------|---------------------|---|--|----------------|------------|--------------|
| File | Home | Terra | in Geor | etry S | lite | Corridors | Mode | l Detailing | Drawing P | roduction | Drawing | Annotat | e Utilities | Collaborate | View | Help |
| ô | | \odot | - 4 | - Λ | В | 14 | ABC | A | Α | | BC | 4 | | / | 1"=50' | |
| - | | Ö | <u>/ </u> | * A | t A | τA | A | \frown | | 2 | | ~ | > | Newsed | 🔀 ACS I | lane Lock |
| 0 | Element Selection | t n⊡ ▼ | Place Place Note Labe | e Place I Text | Edit Text | Change Text Attributes | <u> </u> | Civil Labeler | Annotation * | Model A | nnotation • | Cros Section Na | ss avigator | Boundary • | Anno | tation Scal |
| Primar | y Selec | tion | Notes | | | Text | G. | Labels 🖻 | Ar | notations | G | Revie | ev 5 m | Place Name | ed Boundar | / N |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Adjust Profi | le Named I | Boundary |
| | ross s arthwor | k Cal | ION Na culation Cross Se | med is are rection | Bou nade | ndaries e at each | | | | 8 | Place Named Draw De | Boundary Ci ring Seed: 3 tail Scale: 1 Group: (1 Name: E escription: | vil Cross Sectio Control Control Cont | Adjust Profi | | × |
| | | | | mat 1 | 4,1 | $\Delta \mathbb{R}^{(n)}$ | - | | | | Ctourt | Location 1 | 10 - 00 00 | | | |
| | Second | | the | - 5¥02 | | | 177 | $\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{\sqrt{$ | # 13 | | j Start | Location: | 10+00.00 | | | |
| | | | ynnen | |] [| | | | A-t-1 | | Stop | Location: 2 | 252+43.28 | | | |
| and the | | | R. W. | <u>Mn 2</u> | | | 2 | | HAX: | \mathcal{A} | Le | eft Offset: - | 225.000000 | | | Contractoral |
| | | | | | | | | | THE A | | Rig | ht Offset: 2 | 225.000000 | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | · 7 | ~ | 10 | Interval: | 50.000000 | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | Vertical Exag | geration: 1 | 1.000000 | | | |
| | View | 2 20 04 | ecian Sun/Et- | | | | | | | | Top C | learance: 2 | 24.000000 | | | |
| | | - <u></u> | | | 👉 (m | 1 🕻 🛯 🗠 🗖 | | | | | Bottom C | learance: 4 | 14.000000 | | | |
| | |) | | | 1 2 | | | _ • V, | ¥ 1 | Ele | vation Datum | Spacing: 2 | 2.000000 | | | |
| | | | 4 | | | | | | _ \ | | Event | Point List: (1 | None) | | • | |
| | | | | Open | a Vie | ew show | ing t | he | | | | | Include Ever | nt Points Only | | |
| | | | | 3D D | esig | n Mode | e/ 🥡 | • | | | | | Include Con | itrol Points | | |
| | | | The | 20 5 |) o c i c | n Mod | - I 🔁 | must | | | | 10 | | acing | | |
| | ~~~ | | | be on | enec | for crea | er 🦏 | of | | | | | Show Dialo | a | | |
| | - | | | CROS | S SE | CTION | Vame | ed a | Charles and the second | | | | | g | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | and the second se | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | a construction of the second se | | | | | | | ~ | 5 | | | | | |
| | | | | and the second se | | | | | 5 | | _ | | | | | |
| | 1 | | | | | HERE | | | | | - | | | | | |
| | | 1- | CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | \geq | | | 72 | | | | | | | | |

| | Open a second View displaying the 3D Design Model \Box . Most Named Boundary procedures are performed in the 2D Design Model Ω . |
|----|--|
| | WARNING: If CROSS SECTION <i>Named Boundaries</i> are attempted to be created without the <i>3D Design Model</i> , then an error message will be displayed. |
| 5 | From the Ribbon, select the <i>Place Named Boundary</i> tool: [OpenRoads Modeling \rightarrow Drawing Production \rightarrow Named Boundaries]. |
| 6 | In the <i>Place Named Boundary</i> Dialogue Box, select the <i>Civil Cross Section</i> mode by clicking on the icon . |
| 7 | <i>Prompt: Place Named Boundary Civil Cross Section > Identify Path Element –</i> Left-Click on the Corridor Alignment. |
| 8 | Drawing Seed: CROSS SECTION <i>Named Boundaries</i> created for earthwork calculations are NOT presented in plans. Therefore, choose a large <i>Drawing Seed</i> to ensure the Corridor and/or Approaches fit within the limits of the resulting <i>Named Boundaries</i> . To determine the Total Length for each <i>Drawing Seed</i> , see 16B.2.a.i Cross Section Drawing Seed Table and Total Lengths. |
| | In this case, the "30 Scale XS Landscape" <i>Drawing Seed</i> is used to ensure all 3D Modeling elements fit in the <i>Named Boundaries</i> . |
| 9 | Group Name: Assign the <i>Group</i> to be created a logical name. In this case, "Earthwork Group" is typed into the <i>Group Name</i> box. |
| 10 | Interval: The <i>Interval</i> sets the cross section spacing that will be used for Average Area End Method calculations. The <i>Interval</i> will depend on project requirements for earthwork calculations. In this case, the <i>Interval</i> is set at every 50 feet. |
| 11 | Include Control Points: If this box is CHECKED then a Cross Section is placed and earthwork calculations are made at each horizontal Alignment geometry point (i.e., PC/PT of curves). Conventionally, this box should be CHECKED. |
| 12 | Create Drawing: Ensure this box is UNCHECKED. It is NOT necessary to create <i>Drawing Models</i> and <i>Sheet Models</i> for earthwork calculations. |
| 12 | Set the Start Location and Stop Location: In the dialogue box, type in the <i>Start Location</i> and <i>End Location</i> . |
| | Alternative: In the 2D Design Model 2, follow the Prompts in the lower-left corner and specify the Start Location and End Location with the mouse-cursor. |

20D.3 Create Cut/Fill Meshes with the Create Cut Fill Volumes tool

The *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool must be used to calculate earthwork volumes. If Cut and Fill Meshes are NOT created, then the resulting earthwork report will be blank. For more information on this tool and Cut and Fill Meshes, refer to <u>20B</u> - *Create Cut Fill Volumes tool and Earthwork Meshes*.

A detailed workflow for this tool is shown in 20B.2 Create Cut Fill Volumes tool – Workflow.



Prompt: Fill Feature Definition – Accept and use the default Fill Feature Definition – which should be "Volumes_Fill". Left-Click in the *View* to accept and proceed to the next prompt.

- *Prompt Compute Unsuitable* In this case, "NO" is selected.
- 18 *Prompt Compute Custom* In this case, "NO" is selected.

16

20

19 Prompt Compute Substrata – In this case, "NO" is selected.

Prompt: Data Point to accept selection – Left-Click anywhere in the *View* to create the Cut and Fill Meshes in the *3D Design Model*

20D.4 Generate the Report with the End Area Volumes Report tool

After CROSS SECTION *Named Boundary* elements and Cut/Fill Meshes have been created, then the earthwork report can be generated with the *End Areas Volumes Report*.

TIP: As shown in steps ¹⁷ and ¹⁸, it is possible to exclude a range of Cross Sections – which is referred to as a "volume exception" by the software. The range of Cross Sections designated as a "volume exception" will NOT be included and calculated in the earthwork report.

In this case, a "volume exception" is used to exclude the *Named Boundaries* in the vicinity of a bridge.



 15 From the Ribbon, select the End Area Volumes Report tool: [OpenRoads Modeling → Home → Model Analysis and Reporting].
 16 Prompt: Named Boundary Group – select the Group that was created in step 9.
 17 Prompt: Select the start cross section named boundary for volume exception. Reset to complete.
 17 OPTION 1: If the desire is to perform earthwork calculations at every cross section location, then Right-Click in the View and the earthwork report will be created.
 17 OPTION 2: To create a gap or "volume exception" in the report, then Left-Click on the first Named Boundary to be included in the "volume exception"



20D.5 Saving the Earthwork Report

To save the Earthwork Report, right-click in the report window and select "Export to Microsoft Excel".

TIP: The Earthwork grand totals are listed at the end of the report.

| | Ea | rth | nwo | rk R | epor | t | | | | |
|--|--------------|-----------------|-------------|---------------|------------------------------|----------------|--------------------|------------------|----------------------------|------------------|
| Bentley Civil Report Browser - C:\Users\brendan\AppDat | a\Local\Temp | \RPTu2e | ftjj5.xml | | | | | | _ | |
| File Tools | | | | | | | | | | |
| StationOffset | | | | | | X | $\Delta \Delta$ | $X \times X$ | | $\sim \sim \sim$ |
| ▷ Cant | | | | × End | i Area v | olume | e Repo | λι Σ | | $X \times X$ |
| ▷ Civil Ierrain | | | | | | λ | | | | |
| | | | | Кероп | Created: Tue | esday, U | CTODER 26, | 2021 | | |
| CorridorModeling | | | | | | 1.01.02 F | | | | |
| ▲ Evaluation | Cross | Section | n Set Nan | ne: Earthwo | rk Group | | | | | |
| CrossSectionGradebook.xsl | | Alian | ment Nan | ne: Riverside | e Mainline | | | | | |
| CrossSectionGradebookfromCLxsl CrossSectionGradebookNE.xsl CrossSectionGradebookWide xsl | | Inpi | ut Grid Fac | tor: Note: | All units in this otherwise. | report are ir | n feet, square | feet and cubic f | eet unless specifi | ed |
| EarthworkQuantities.xsl | | XX | XX | XXX | Station | Quantitie | es | | | |
| ElementsComponentQuantitiesReport.xsl | Baseline | \times \div | | - Cut | | < X | ×-×-> | - Fill | \times \times \times | Mass |
| EndAreaVolume xsl | Station | Factor | Area | Volume | Adjusted | Factor | Area | Volume | Adjusted | Ordinate |
| MassHaulToTIW.xsl | 1000.000 | 1.000 | 37.775 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| Quantities by Named Boundary Report.xsl | 1050.000 | 1.000 | 43.217 | 2024.782 | 2024.782 | 1.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 2024.782 |
| SightVisibilityAlternateReport.xsl | 1100.000 | 1.000 | 46.808 | 2250.608 | 2250.608 | 1.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 4275.390 |
| SightVisibilityReport.xsl | 1150.000 | 1.000 | 31.582 | 1959.739 | 1959.739 | 1.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 6235.129 |
| Volumes vsl | 1200.000 | 1.000 | 24.216 | 1394.955 | 13 34.955 | 1.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 7630.084 |
| LegalDescription | 1250.000 | 1.000 | 30.759 | 1374.374 | 1374 | Back | | V | 0.000 | 9004.458 |
| ▷ MapCheck | 1300.000 | 1.000 | 40.647 | 1785.146 | 178 | Forward | | | 0.000 | 10789.604 |
| ▶ Milling | 1350.000 | 1.000 | 32.051 | 1817.454 | 1817 | Sava bad | around as | | 0.002 | 12607.056 |
| Stakeout | 1400.000 | 1.000 | 17.271 | 1233.055 | 123: | Save Daci | kground as. | • | 339.262 | 13500.849 |
| Superelevation | 1450.000 | 1.000 | 47.783 | 1626.359 | 1626 | Convibor | ckground Issues | K | 339.260 | 14787.948 |
| TemplateLibrary Turnouts | 1500.000 | 1.000 | 8.191 | 1399.364 | 1399 | сору рас | kgrounu | ¥ | 1524.335 | 14662.977 |
| ▶ Tools | 1550.000 | 1.000 | 11.375 | 489.166 | 489 | Select all | | | 4154.007 | 10998.136 |
| | 1600.000 | 1.000 | 17.816 | 729.795 | 729 | Paste | | | 6440.831 | 5287.101 |
| | 1633.807 | 1.000 | 17.011 | 818.538 | 818 | Create sh | ortcut | | 7955.197 | 0.000 |
| 20 | 1650.000 | 1.000 | 16.625 | 861.043 | 861 | Add to fa | vorites | | 8680.544 | -2532.401 |
| 20 | 1700.000 | 1.000 | 12.896 | 738.041 | 738 | View sour | ce | | 9873.273 | -11667.632 |
| CAV | | | DODT | .546 | 600 | En en eller el | | | 9793.817 | -20860.903 |
| SAVI | | E KE | PURI | .023 | 578 | Encoding | | / | 9720.666 | -30003.546 |
| | | | | .987 | 681 | Print | | | 9615.574 | -38937.133 |
| Righ | t-Click | and | select | .2-3 | /84 | Print prev | iew | | 8686.942 | -46839.822 |
| "Export | to Mic | rosof | ft Exc | el" 220 | 928 | Refresh | | | 6897.829 | -52809.431 |
| | | 030 | | ./60 | 138 | Export to | Microsoft I | xcel | 4342.334 | -55716.005 |
| | 2050.000 | 1.000 | 14.863 | 1281.265 | 128 | Send to C |)neNote | 8 | 1827.223 | -56261.963 |
| | 2100.000 | 1.000 | 14.809 | 720.704 | (4) | Deserved | _ | | 486.817 | -56006.979 |
| | 2150.000 | 1.000 | 14.783 | 739.794 | 13 | Propertie | s | 474 000 | 469.537 | -05/36./22 |
| | 2200.000 | 1.000 | 14.592 | 134.358 | 134.358 | 1.000 | 4.34/ | 4/1.998 | 4/1.998 | -554/4.362 |
| | < | ~1 000 | 10.305 | × 8/0 650 | V 8/10/650 | | × 6978 | UND RUK | V 765 696 | |

20E – UNSUITABLE MATERIAL MODELING AND CALCULATIONS

In real-world construction, unsuitable materials, such as existing pavement and topsoil are often encountered. Before building a new roadway or parking lot, the unsuitable material must be removed from the ground. After removing unsuitable materials, the ground surface may be lower than the surveyed Existing Ground Terrain Model, which is used for the design and earthwork (cut/fill) quantity calculations of the new road or parking lot.

This workflow demonstrates how to account for the removal of Unsuitable Materials in the creation of Cut/Fill (earthwork) Meshes. Before using the *Create Cut Fill Volume* tool, the area where Unsuitable Materials are located and the depth of the Unsuitable Material must be modeled using Surface Templates. In the graphic below, the Unsuitable Material is a 6" depth of topsoil that is located past the Existing Road Shoulder.



NOTICE: When the Cut/Fill Meshes are created, they will extend below the Existing Ground Terrain Model surface and begin at the bottom of the Unsuitable Material Surface Template, which simulates the removal of the Unsuitable Material and provides a more accurate account of Cut/Fill (earthwork) quantities in calculation.

20E.1 Process Overview for Modeling Unsuitable Materials

The general processes for modeling Unsuitable Materials are discussed below.

Process 1 – Create a new ORD File for Modeling the Unsuitable Material:

Do NOT model Unsuitable Materials in a Corridor ORD File or other Design ORD File. Create a new ORD File that is solely used for modeling the Unsuitable Material. Use a **2D Seed File** when creating the new ORD File.

In the new ORD File, **reference in the Survey ORD File** or whichever ORD File contains the Existing Ground Terrain Model. The Existing Ground Terrain Model will be directly used to create the Surface Template discussed in the remaining processes. It is NOT necessary to reference in the Corridor ORD File into this new ORD File.

Process 2 – Draw a 2D Closed Element to represent the area of the Unsuitable Material:

A 2D Closed Element must be drawn to represent the limits (footprint area) of the Unsuitable Material. The 2D. The 2D Closed Element must be located within the boundary of the Existing Ground Terrain Model. As discussed in the next process, the Surface Template is applied to the Existing Ground Terrain Model, but ONLY within the limits of the 2D Closed Element.



NOTE: The Unsuitable Material Surface Template does NOT interact with the Corridor or other proposed modeling elements until earthwork calculations are performed. The footprint area of the Unsuitable Material Surface Template does NOT need to be coordinated with the footprint area of the Corridor. The area of the Surface Template can extend past the footprint of the Corridor and correct earthwork calculations are still achieved.

Process 3 - Create the Unsuitable Material Template in the Template Editor:

Unsuitable Materials are modeled with Surface Templates. The Surface Template represents the depth of the unsuitable material. Create the Unsuitable Material Template in the Template Editor. Creation of Surface Templates in the Template Editor is shown in **8H.3 Create a Surface Template Workflow**.

IMPORTANT: The Surface Template component must be assigned to an "Existing" Feature Definition. If NOT then the Unsuitable Surface Template will NOT be accounted for in earthwork quantity calculations.



Process 4 – Apply the Surface Template to the Existing Ground Terrain Model:

After the 2D Closed Element is created, the *Apply Surface Template* tool can be used to model the Unsuitable Material. When using this tool, the 2D Closed Element and the Existing Ground Terrain Model are both selected. The Existing Ground surface is specified as the Terrain Model and the 2D Closed Element is specified as the **External Clip Boundary**.

With the External Clip Boundary specified, the Surface Template is ONLY applied to the Existing Ground within the 2D Closed Element.



Process 5 – Create a new Quantities ORD File and Calculate Earthwork Quantities:

Create a new Quantities ORD File using a **2D Seed File**. Reference in the following ORD Files:

- The **Survey ORD File** or whichever ORD File contains the original Existing Ground Terrain Model.
- The Unsuitable Materials ORD File, which was created in Process 1.
- The **Corridor ORD File** and other **Design ORD Files** that contain proposed design models.

Use the *Create Cut Fill Volume* tool to create the Cut/Fill Meshes. When using this tool, ensure the **Compute Unsuitable** option is set to **Yes**. The resulting Cut/Fill Meshes will extend below the Existing Ground surface to account for the removal of the Unsuitable Materials. See <u>20B.2 Create Cut Fill Volumes</u> tool – Workflow.

BEST PRACTICE: After using the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool, examine the resulting Cut and Fill Meshes in a cross-section view. Ensure that the Cut and Fill Meshes are created with the respect to the Unsuitable Materials removal. To view cross-sections, use the *Dynamic Cross Section Viewer* (9F.1 Accessing the Dynamic Cross Section Viewer)

Use the *Quantity Report By Named Boundary* tool to calculate the earthwork quantities and generate a report. See 20C.2 Quantity Report By Named Boundary for Approaches.

In the quantities report, the "Volumes_Cut" and "Volumes_Fill" feature definitions represent the earthwork quantities and reflect the removal of Unsuitable Materials. For more information deciphering this report, see <u>20E.3.b Unsuitable Materials in the Quantities Report</u>.

WARNING: In the quantities report, the Feature Definition used to create the Unsuitable Material Surface Template will be shown (i.e., "Exist Topsoil"). **This volume should be IGNORED and NOT used for plan quantities.**

The Unsuitable Material Surface Template feature definition corresponds with the total volume of the Surface Template. This quantity may NOT correlate with the volume of Unsuitable Material that needs to be removed. If the Surface Templates extend past the Corridor footprint area, then this quantity will be greater than the Unsuitable Material volume that actually needs to be removed to construct the road.

TIP: To determine the actual Unsuitable Material removal volume, the 2D Closed Element that is used to create the Surface Templates must NOT extend past the Corridor footprint area. If the 2D Closed Element and Corridor footprint area are coordinated, then the Unsuitable Material feature definition volume may be used.

20E.2 Model the Unsuitable Material with Surface Templates - Workflow

20E.2.a Create a New ORD File for the Unsuitable Material Models

It is advised that Unsuitable Material are modeled are created in a dedicated Unsuitable ORD File.

References Needed in the Unsuitable ORD File: In the new Unsuitable ORD File, reference in the Existing Survey ORD File. For this process, **Existing Ground Terrain Model** must be referenced in and *Activated*. Also, the **Existing Shoulder** survey linework, which represents the front edge of the Topsoil Removal Area, must be copied into the Unsuitable ORD File.



20E.2.b Create a Closed Element to represent the Unsuitable Materials Area

In this process, the User must create a 2D CLOSED Shape element to delineate the area of the Unsuitable Material, which is in this case is topsoil. The 2D CLOSED Shape element could be a closed SmartLine.



However, in this workflow, linework found in the Survey ORD File is copied into the Active ORD File and incorporated into the CLOSED Shape element with the *Create Complex Shape* tool. Specifically in this example, topsoil exists outside of the existing road Shoulder line. The Shoulder line will be copied from the Survey ORD File and used as a defining edge of the topsoil area.



20E.2.b.i Copy or Merge Survey Linework into the Active ORD File

In this example, the Existing Edge of Shoulder – which is in the Survey ORD File – needs to be brought into the Unsuitable Material ORD File (Active). There are two methods for bringing in Survey elements into the Active ORD File:

Use the Copy tool: With this method, the *Copy* tool is used with linework found in reference ORD File (Survey). When referenced Linework is *Copied*, the resulting copies are placed in the Active ORD File. This method could be tedious because the User must manually select each Survey element to be copied in.

Merge Into Master: With this method, the *Merge Into Master* is used. When this tool is used, all displayed reference linework (Level = ON) is brought into the Active ORD File. Before this tool is used, toggle OFF the Levels of all elements that do NOT need to be brought into the Active ORD File. Only elements that are displayed in the *View* are brought into the Active ORD File. This method is convenient because Survey linework is brought in without manually referenced elements. The *Merge into Master* tool is discussed in *1E.7.a Merge Into Master tool (Import Reference into Current ORD File)*.

In this workflow, the **Merge Into Master** tool is used to bring in all Survey elements assigned to the "E_RDW_Shoulder" Level. The "E_RDW_Shoulder" Level contains all linework that represents the Existing Edge of Shoulder – which will be used to delineate the Topsoil areas.





IMPORTANT: After the *Merge Into Master* tool is used, the Survey ORD File reference is removed. If the Existing Ground Terrain Model is in this file, then it will have to be re-referenced for later steps.

20E.2.b.ii Examine Survey Linework for Discontinuities, Gaps, and Breaks

WARNING: Survey Linework – such as the Existing Edge of Shoulder line – may appear as a single continuous element but is often segmented. Adjacent segments may NOT share a common start/end point, which can be problematic when using the *Create Complex Shape* tool to combine elements into a single CLOSED Shape.

The User must examine the Start/End Point of each Survey Linework element and ensure that it coincides with the neighboring element. If Survey Linework does not exactly align, use a grip-edit to snap the two ends together.

Similarly, there may be gaps between Survey Linework elements. Use a SmartLine element to span gaps between Survey Linework elements.



WARNING: Adjusting Survey Linework to be continuous is important when joining elements together with the *Create Complex Shape* tool. The *Create Complex Shape* tool allows for a "Maximum Gap" between elements to be joined. However, this Maximum Gap is often unreliable. For best results with the *Create Complex Shape* tool, all elements should be Snapped to each other.

BEST PRACTICE: For each Survey linework element, manually Snap the element End Point to the Start Point of the adjacent element – as shown below:



20E.2.b.iii Manually Draw the Outside Edges for the 2D Closed Shape

In this process, the remaining elements for the CLOSED Shape are manually drawn by the User. When drawing the Outside Edges, be sure to provide enough area to fit the proposed Corridor and Site Modeling features within the CLOSED Shape. However, the Outside Edges should NOT expand past the boundary of the Existing Ground Terrain Model.

IMPORTANT: Only the Unsuitable Materials directly underneath the Corridor and Site Modeling features are factored into **Earthwork (Cut/Fill)** calculations.



20E.2.b.iv Join Elements into a Single Closed Shape

In this process, the Survey linework elements and SmartLine Outside Edges are formed into CLOSED Shapes with the *Create Complex Shape* tool.

The Create Complex Shape tool is discussed in greater detail in 6H.3 Create Complex Shape tool.



| 1 | From the Ribbon, select the <i>Create Complex Shape</i> tool: [<i>Drawing</i> \rightarrow <i>Home</i> \rightarrow <i>Groups</i>]. |
|---|--|
| | Before following the <i>Prompts</i> and selecting elements, configure the Dialogue Box: |
| 2 | Method: Automatic Maximum Gap: 0.1000 |
| | NOTE: If the <i>Create Complex Shape</i> is NOT working for the Automatic Method , then try changing the Method to Manual . This method is tedious for larger areas but will produce a CLOSED Shape. |
| 3 | <i>Prompt: Automatic Create Complex Element Shape > Identify Element –</i> Select the first element to be included in the <i>Complex Shape</i> . |
| 4 | <i>Prompt: Automatic Create Complex Element Shape > Accept/Reject (select next input) –</i> With the Automatic Method , it may be necessary to manually select the next element to be included in the CLOSED Shape. |
| | If the Shape is NOT showing as closed, select the next element in line to be included |
| | If the Shape is showing a closed, left-click anywhere in the View to create the CLOSED Shape. |

20E.2.c Create the Surface Template in the Template Editor

In this process, the Surface Template used to model the Unsuitable Material is created. The creation and editing of Surface Templates is discussed in detail in 8H - Surface Templates.

TIP: New Surface Templates configurations should be created by copying and then modifying a pre-made Surface Template found in the FLH Standard Library. See **8H.3 Create a Surface Template Workflow.**



20E.2.d Apply the Surface Template with an External Clip Boundary

After creating the Unsuitable Material Surface Template in the *Template Editor*, it can be applied to the Existing Ground Terrain Model with the Apply Surface Template tool.

For Unsuitable Material models, the Apply External Clip Boundary should be CHECKED and the CLOSED Shapes (created in previous steps) are used as the External Clip Boundaries.

WARNING: Ensure the **Existing Ground Terrain Model** has been Activated before creating the Surface Template Model.



In the Dialogue Box, enter a **Name** for the Unsuitable Material Surface Template.

Prompt: Locate Terrain Model – Left-Click on the Existing Ground Terrain Model.

5

Prompt: Apply External Clip Boundary – Select **Yes** – or CHECK the box in the Dialogue Box.





20E.3 Unsuitable Material Calculations

After modeling the Unsuitable Materials with Surface Templates, quantity calculations can be performed.

If the previous processes in this workflow were followed, then the resulting Quantities Report will reflect the removal of Unsuitable Materials in the **Cut and Fill volume quantities**.



20E.3.a Unsuitable Material Calculation Workflow

The calculation and reporting process for Unsuitable Materials is the same as the *Quantities Report By Named Boundary* workflow shown in 20C.2 *Quantity Report By Named Boundary for Approaches* – with a notable exception:

IMPORTANT: Set Compute Unsuitable to "YES" when using the Create Cut Fill Volumes tool. See 20B.2 Create Cut Fill Volumes tool – Workflow.



BEST PRACTICE: After using the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool, examine the resulting Cut and Fill Meshes in a cross-section view. Ensure that the Cut and Fill Meshes are created with the respect to the Unsuitable Materials removal. To view cross-sections, use the *Dynamic Cross Section Viewer*. See **9F.1 Accessing** *the Dynamic Cross Section Viewer*.

20E.3.b Unsuitable Materials in the Quantity Report

In the Quantity Report shown below, the "Volumes_Cut" and "Volumes_Fill" feature definitions represent earthwork volumes. The "Volumes_Cut/Fill" values should reflect the removal of Unsuitable Materials.



WARNING: In the quantities report, the Feature Definition used to create the Unsuitable Material Surface Template will be shown (i.e., "XS_TC_Exist Topsoil"). **This volume should be IGNORED and NOT used for plan quantities** (i.e., existing topsoil removal quantity).

The Unsuitable Material quantity ("XS_TC_Exist Topsoil") corresponds with the total volume of the Surface Template.



This quantity may NOT correlate with the volume of Unsuitable Material that needs to be removed to construct the road. If the Surface Templates extend past the Corridor footprint area, then this quantity will be greater than the Unsuitable Material volume that needs to be removed to construct the road.

In most cases, it will be necessary to estimate the volume of Unsuitable Material to be removed through hand calculations. For example, use hand calculations to determine the volume of existing topsoil that must be removed.

TIP: To determine the actual Unsuitable Material removal volume, the 2D Closed Element that is used to create the Surface Templates must NOT extend past the Corridor footprint area. If the 2D Closed Element and Corridor footprint area are coordinated, then the Unsuitable Material feature definition volume may be used.

20F – MISCELLANEOUS QUANTITY WORKFLOWS

20F.1 Culvert Excavation – Workflow

This workflow demonstrates how to model Culvert Excavation in a way that it can be calculated separately from Road Embankment Earthwork.

Advanced configuration of the Culvert Template and Component Feature Definitions is required to separate Culvert Excavation volumes from the Cut/Fill Meshes that quantify Road Embankment Earthwork.

Before performing this workflow, review the Volume Option concepts found in 20G - Advanced Information: Component Feature Definition.

20F.1.a Culvert Template Configuration

Build the Culvert Template as shown below.

IMPORTANT: All Component Feature Definitions in the Culvert Template must be set to the "None" Volume Option. See <u>20G.5 None Volume Option</u>. If any Component Feature Definitions are set to the "Design" Volume Option, then the Culvert Template will interfere with the creation of Cut/Fill Meshes for the Road Embankment Earthwork.

IMPORTANT: The Circle Culvert Component must have the "Exclude from Top/Bottom Mesh" box CHECKED in the Component Properties. See the next page.



Culvert Component Properties: The Circle Culvert Component must have the "Exclude from Top/Bottom Mesh" box CHECKED in the Component Properties. If this box is NOT checked, the Culvert Component will interfere with the *Create Closed Mesh* tool – which is used in 20F.1.d Calculate Culvert Excavation Volume.

| -Current Templa Name: | ate 36" Culvert with Excavation | Display Components Constraints Close |
|---|--|---|
| | Is Tunnel Template | Display All Components |
| 3 2 | x c v _ D a y light_L C u l v e | WARNING: The Culvert Component must have the Exclude from Top/Bottom Mesh box CHECKED. |
| 0 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | -6 -5 -4 -3 -2 -1 0 | Backfill Falv_Bottom_R 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 |
| Component P Name: Use Name P Description: Feature Definiti Display Rules: Parent Compon | Override: Culvert 24-Inch Override: Culvert 24-Inch ion: vinents\Utilities\XS_TC_Underground Water mont op/Bottom Mesh | X Apply Close < Previous Next> Edit |
| Circle Proper Radius: | ties 1.5000 Label: | ~ |

Excavation Slopes and Excavation Bottom Configuration: Consider the following Template configuration and Point Constraints when creating the Excavation Components.



3

5

The Excavation Slopes (End Condition Components) CANNOT begin from a common Template Point. If End Condition Components begin at a common Point, then only ONE End Condition is solved for in the Linear Template. The Excavation Bottom (Planar Component) is necessary to separate the End Condition Components.

The Excavation Bottom should account for culvert bedding. In this case, 6" of bedding is needed beneath the culvert so the Excavation is set 0.5 feet below the Culvert invert.

Use the following configuration in the Point Properties of the Excavation Slopes End Condition Points.

Ensure the *Check for Interception*, *Place Point at Interception*, and *End Condition Is Infinite* boxes are CHECKED.

Use the **Slope** and **Vertical** Constraints for the End Condition Points.

Set the **Slope** Constraint to match the required Excavation Slope in construction. In the example below, the **Slope** constraint is set to 1V:1.5H (66.66%). If the Excavation Slope is vertical in construction, then set the **Slope** Constraint to a very large value (i.e., 1,000%) to mimic a vertical Excavation Slope.



20F.1.b Create the Culvert Linear Template

The Culvert Linear Templates can be created in the Corridor ORD File. However, **BEST PRACTICE** is to create Culvert Linear Templates in a dedicated Culvert Design ORD File.

The creation of Linear Templates is discussed in 9B.2 Create a New Linear Template.



After creating the Culvert Linear Template, scroll through the Cross Sections for the Culvert Linear Template. Pay close attention to the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade** in relation to the **Existing Ground**.

If the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade** is **ABOVE** the **Existing Ground**, then the Proposed Road is in a **Fill Condition**. In this case, the **Culvert Excavation Volume** should be measured between the **Existing Ground** and the **Culvert Excavation** datum. See <u>20F.1.d.i Proposed Road Fill Condition</u>.

If the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade** is **BELOW** the **Existing Ground**, then the Proposed Road is in a **Cut Condition**. In this case, the **Culvert Excavation Volume** should be measured between the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade** and the **Culvert Excavation** datum. See <u>20F.1.d.ii Proposed Road</u> <u>Cut Condition</u>.



20F.1.c Set the Volume Options for Culvert Feature Definitions

The Components in the Culvert Template use the following Feature Definitions:

XS_TC_Excavation Limit: Excavation Slopes and Excavation Bottom Components.

XS_TC_Underground Water: Culvert Component.

Component Feature Definitions properties are accessed through the Project Explorer:

Project Explorer \rightarrow OpenRoads Standards \rightarrow Current DGN Name (Default) \rightarrow Mesh

| Image: Sequence of the | NOTE: Feature Definitions must be | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 📦 Items 🔹 | edited in the same ORD File that contains | | | | | |
| 😝 OpenRoads Model 🗸 🗸 | the Culvert Linear Templates. | | | | | |
| 🕼 Sheet Index 🔹 | | | | | | |
| 🖯 OpenRoads Standards 🔺 | Only edit Feature Definitions after the | | | | | |
| | Culvert Linear Template is created. | | | | | |
| Search P 2 × | | | | | | |
| 🔺 🐮 Standards | | | | | | |
| > M Libraries | | | | | | |
| id-a2158061_cor.dgn (2D Design SurvFt) | | | | | | |
| Feature Definitions | | | | | | |
| Alignment Set the Volur | me Option is set to None | | | | | |
| Image: Second | ture Definitions in the | | | | | |
| ▷ 🗸 📆 Corridor Cul | vert Template | | | | | |
| G Superelevation | · | | | | | |
| Linear Template | | | | | | |
| Surface Template | Properties (OpenRoads Standards) - X | | | | | |
| V V Linear | Selection (1) | | | | | |
| Point | ✓ 🔗 XS_TC_Excavation Limit | | | | | |
| 🔺 🗹 🦓 Mesh | | | | | | |
| A Solution Modeling | Feature Definition | | | | | |
| Components | Name XS_TC_Excavation Limit | | | | | |
| 🖌 🗸 📂 Grading | Description XS_TC_Excavation Limit | | | | | |
| ✓ 🔗 XS_TC_Excavation Limit | Mesh | | | | | |
| Utilities | Surface Feature Symbology XS TC Excavation Limit | | | | | |
| ✓ 🦿 XS_TC_Underground Water | Volume Option None | | | | | |
| 🖯 Drainage and Utilities Model 🗸 🗸 | Items 🔨 | | | | | |
| Survey 🗸 | Items Attached None | | | | | |

20F.1.d Calculate Culvert Excavation Volume

Culvert Excavation can be calculated in the Corridor Quantities File. However, **BEST PRACTICE** is to create a dedicated Culvert Quantity ORD File for the calculation of Culvert Excavation Volumes.

20F.1.d.i Proposed Road Fill Condition

In the Proposed Road Fill Condition, the Culvert Excavation Volume is measured from the Culvert Excavation Slopes/Bottom to the Existing Ground.

Using the *Create Closed Mesh* tool with the *Element to Element* Method, a Mesh element is created between the Culvert Linear Template and the Existing Ground Model. The resulting Mesh Element represents the Culvert Excavation volume. See the next page.

WARNING: Place the resulting Mesh element on a Feature Definition with a "None" Volume Option. If the "Design" Volume Option is set, then the resulting Mesh element will interfere with Cut/Fill Meshes when the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool is used to calculate Road Embankment Earthwork.



 Prom the Ribbon, select the Create Closed Mesh tool: [OpenRoads Modeling → Model Detailing → 3D Tools].
 Prompt: Method - Select the Element to Element Method.
 Prompt: Select Top Surface Element - Select the Existing Ground Terrain Model.
 Prompt: Select bottom Surface Element - Select the Handle of the Culvert Linear Template.
 Prompt: Feature Definition - Select a Feature Definition. In this case, the "XS_TC_Sub_Excv1" Feature Definition is used. See the WARNING above. The resulting Mesh element is shown in the Cross Section Viewer for the Culvert Linear Template.

Use the *Quantities Report By Named Boundary* tool to generate the quantities report. The Excavation Volume is shown next to the **Feature Definition** selected on the previous page.

A detailed workflow for the *Quantities Report By Named Boundary* tool is shown in 20C.2 Quantities Report By Named Boundary for Approaches.



20F.1.d.ii Proposed Road Cut Condition

In the Proposed Road Cut Condition, the Culvert Excavation Volume is measured from the Culvert Excavation Slopes/Bottom to the Proposed Road Sub-Grade.

By default, the **Culvert Excavation Slopes** (End Condition Component) target the Existing Ground Terrain Model (Active Surface), as shown below. The configuration shown below is problematic because the **Culvert Excavation** would overlap with **Road Embankment Excavation**.



For correct calculation, the **Culvert Excavation Slopes** (End Condition Component) must target the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade**. This is accomplished by:

- Creating a **Proposed Road Sub-Grade Terrain Model** with the *Create Terrain Model From Design Meshes* tool.
- Use the *Target Aliasing* tool on the Culvert Linear Template. Set the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade Terrain Model** as the target.

Create the Proposed Road Sub-Grade Terrain Model

The Create Terrain Model From Design Mesh tool is used to create the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade Terrain Model**. This tool is discussed in <u>91.2 Create Finished Grade and Subgrade Terrain Models from</u> *Corridor*.



Prompt: Rules Void – Select **NO**.

Set the Target Aliasing for the Culvert Linear Template

Using the *Target Aliasing* tool, set the Culvert Linear Template target to the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade Terrain Model**. The *Target Aliasing* tool is discussed in <u>9G.8 Target Aliasing</u>.



After setting the *Target Aliasing*, scroll through the Cross Sections for the Culvert Linear Template. Ensure that the **Culvert Excavation Slopes** (End Condition Component) intercept and target the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade** In the Proposed Road Cut Condition, the Culvert Excavation Volume is measured from the **Culvert Excavation Slopes/Bottom** to the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade Terrain Model**.

The *Create Closed Mesh* tool with the *Element to Element* Method is used to create a Mesh element that represents the Culvert Excavation. For the **Top Surface Element**, select the **Proposed Road Sub-Grade Terrain Model**. For the **Bottom Surface Element**, select the **Handle** of the **Culvert Linear Template**.

WARNING: Place the resulting Mesh element on a Feature Definition with a "None" Volume Option. If the "Design" Volume Option is set, then the resulting Mesh element will interfere with Cut/Fill Meshes when the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool is used to calculate Road Embankment Earthwork.



| 1 | From the Ribbon, select the <i>Create Closed Mesh</i> tool: [<i>OpenRoads Modeling</i> \rightarrow <i>Model Detailing</i> \rightarrow <i>3D Tools</i>]. |
|---|--|
| 2 | Prompt: Method – Select the Element to Element Method. |
| 3 | <i>Prompt: Select Top Surface Element –</i> Select the Proposed Road Sub-Grade Terrain Model . |
| | TIP: The Proposed Road Sub-Grade Terrain Model can be selected in the Cross Section View. |
| 4 | <i>Prompt: Select bottom Surface Element</i> – Select the Handle of the Culvert Linear Template . |
| 5 | <i>Prompt: Feature Definition</i> – Select a Feature Definition. In this case, the "XS_TC_Sub_Excv1" Feature Definition is used. See the WARNING above. |

The resulting Mesh element is shown in the Cross Section Viewer for the Culvert Linear Template.

Use the *Quantities Report By Named Boundary* tool to generate the quantities report. The Excavation Volume is shown next to the **Feature Definition** selected on the previous page.

A detailed workflow for the *Quantities Report By Named Boundary* tool is shown in <mark>20C.2 Quantity Report</mark> By Named Boundary for Approaches.



20G – ADVANCED INFORMATION: COMPONENT FEATURE DEFINITION AND VOLUME OPTIONS

This section explains the inner workings of the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool and how the *Volume Option* Feature Definition setting affects the resulting Cut/Fill Meshes.

In the Feature Definition settings, the *Volume Option* determines how Cut/Fill Meshes will interact with the Template Components.

Component Feature Definitions properties are accessed through the Project Explorer: **Project Explorer** → **OpenRoads Standards** → **Current DGN Name (Default)** → **Mesh**



NOTE: The Volume Option must be edited in the Design ORD File that contains the Template Components. For example, the Volume Options for Corridor Template Components can ONLY be edited in the Corridor ORD File to take effect. Do NOT change the Volume Option in the Quantity ORD File.

20G.1 Design Volume Option

Proposed features are typically set to the "Design" *Volume Option*. In the graphic below, all Road Template Components (Cut/Fill End Conditions, Pavement Layer 1, Pavement Layer 4) are set to the "Design" *Volume Option*.

When the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool is used, the software seeks out the **BOTTOM EDGE** of all "Design" Components to create a **Sub-Grade Datum**. Cut and Fill Meshes are created between the **Sub-Grade Datum** and the **Existing Ground Terrain Model**.



NOTICE: In the graphic above, the Pavement 1 Layer (which typically represents asphalt) is assigned to the "Design" *Volume Option*. However, the Pavement 1 Layer Component is NOT positioned on the **BOTTOM EDGE** of the Road Template, so it is irrelevant to Cut/Fill Mesh creation.
20G.2 Unsuitable Volume Option

The "Unsuitable" *Volume Option* is applied to existing materials that are unsuitable for construction, such as topsoil, loam, and existing asphalt. Unsuitable Components and Meshes are applied to the Existing Ground Terrain Model with Surface Templates and the *Create Closed Mesh* tool.

WARNING: Road Templates and Proposed Modeling Features should NOT use Components with Unsuitable Feature Definitions.

When "Unsuitable" Components and the Existing Ground Terrain Model overlap, then the Existing Ground is ignored. The resulting Cut and Fill Meshes are created between the **BOTTOM EDGE** of the "Unsuitable" Components and the **Sub-Grade Datum**.

A detailed procedure for modeling and calculating unsuitable material quantities is shown in 20E – Unsuitable Material Modeling and Calculations.

NOTE: Ensure that the *Compute Unsuitable* option is CHECKED when using the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool.



20G.3 Custom Volume Option

When the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool is used, "Custom" Volume Option Components are NOT considered in the formation of the **Sub-Grade Datum**.

As shown in the retaining wall example below, the **Bedding Component** of the wall is assigned to the "Custom" Volume Option. All other Components in the Template are assigned to the "Design" Volume Option. The **Sub-Grade Datum** excludes the **Bedding Component** when creating Cut/Fill Meshes.

In this scenario, the excavation for the **Bedding Component** needs to be separated from the excavation for all the Wall Components. The **Cut Component** represents the excavation volume for all Wall Components – but excludes excavation necessary for the **Bedding Component**.

TIP: In the Quantities Report, the Feature Definition that corresponds with the **Bedding Component** will display the volume – which also corresponds with the additional excavation needed to place the **Bedding Component**.

NOTE: Ensure that the *Compute Unsuitable* option is CHECKED when using the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool.



20G.4 Substrata Volume Option

The "Substrata" Volume Option is used to account for different geo-technical layers in the existing ground.

In this example, there is an **Existing Rock Component** that represent lime stone and is located 3-feet below the existing ground grade. The **Existing Rock Component** Feature Definition is set to the "Substrata" Volume Option. When the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool is used, **Rock Excavation** required to construct the proposed ditch is quantified and separated from conventional excavation (which his represented by the **Cut Mesh**).

NOTE: Ensure that the *Compute Substrata* option is CHECKED when using the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool.



After using the Quantites Report By Named Boundary tool, locate the Volumes.xsl report.

WARNING: Do NOT consult the **Quantities By Named Boundary Report.xsl** – which is initially shown be default. The value shown in the default report represents the total volume of the Existing Rock Substrata Component.

The **Rock Excavation** required to construct the ditch will have "...(removed)" added to the Feature Definition name.



20G.5 None Volume Option

Components assigned to the "None" Volume Option are completely ignored by the *Create Cut Fill Volumes* tool.

In the example shown below, a Culvert Component is examined. If the Culvert Component is assigned to the "Design" Volume Option, then the Culvert Excavation recognized in the Cut Component. This is undesirable because the Culvert Excavation quantity is mixed in with Road Embankment quantities. Also, a sliver of required Road Embankment is excluded due to the presence of the Culvert with a "Design" Volume Option.

If the Culvert Component is assigned to the "None" Volume Option, then the culvert does NOT interfere with calculation of Road Embankment quantities.

A detailed procedure for the calculation of Culvert Excavation quantities is shown in 20F.1 Culvert Excavation - Workflow.

